NO. 45436-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

ROBERT L. VANDERVORT,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR MASON COURT The Honorable Amber L. Finlay, Judge Cause No. 13-1-00307-4

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS E. DOYLE, WSBA NO. 10634 Attorney for Appellant

P.O. Box 510 Hansville, WA 98340 (360) 638-2106

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 01. Whether by creating a false choice, the prosecutor's closing argument constituted prosecutorial misconduct that denied Vandervort a fair trial?

 [Assignment of Error No. 1].
- 02. Whether Vandervort was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to properly object to the prosecutor's closing argument that created a false choice and constituted prosecutorial misconduct that denied Vandervort a fair trial? [Assignment of Error No. 2].
- 03. Whether the trial court acted without authority in ordering Vandervort not to frequent places whose primary business is the sale of liquor? [Assignment of Error No. 3].

//

//

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

01. Procedural Facts

Robert L. Vandervort was charged by first amended information filed in Mason County Superior Court August 29, 2013, with unlawful possession of methamphetamine, contrary to RCW 69.59.4013(1). [CP 55-56].

The court denied Vandervort's motion to suppress evidence under CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 and entered the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:

FINDINGS OF FACT

- 1. On July 10, 2013 Officer Jewett discovered a vehicle in the woods on private property near Highway 101 at Purdy Cannon in Mason County Washington. The vehicle was parked 30 yards from the highway in the brush. The vehicle was not on the road and it was surrounded by trees. Officer Jewett approached the vehicle to see if the vehicle was stolen or abandoned.
- 2. Upon his initial approach Officer Jewett observed the Defendant and a female in the vehicle asleep and/or non-responsive. Both individuals were partially undressed with no pants on.
- 3. Officer Jewett knocked on the window to see if the individuals were in distress and to pursue and (sic) investigation regarding whether or not the individuals in the vehicle were trespassing on private property. Officer Jewett was familiar with the location and knew it to be private property. Officer Jewett initially asked the subjects in the vehicle "if they were ok."

- 4. Officer Jewett then asked the Defendant for identification. The Defendant retrieved his identification from a backpack located in the back of the vehicle and gave his identification to Officer Jewett. Whereupon Officer Jewett returned to his patrol car and learned the Defendant had an active warrant for his arrest.
- 5. Officer Jewett returned to the vehicle and discovered the Defendant had fled into the woods with his backpack.
- 6. Officer Jewett located the Defendant approximately 300 yards away from the vehicle hiding under a cedar tree in a patch of brush. The Defendant was clutching the backpack. Officer Jewett placed the Defendant under arrest and read the Defendant his Miranda rights. The Defendant consented orally and in writing to a search of his backpack that ultimately revealed a stash of methamphetamine. The Defendant was advised that the Defendant had the right to refuse consent.
- 7. After the arrest there was some discussion regarding what would happen to the methamphetamine. The court finds there was never any promise made by Officer Jewett to destroy the methamphetamine before the case was resolved in exchange for consent to search.
- 8. The court would also note the Defendant had a prior theft conviction and the Defendant admitted to lying to officer Jewett regarding the existence of a warrant, and therefore the court did not find the Defendant to be a credible witness.

Based upon the foregoing findings of fact, the court hereby makes the following Conclusions of Law:

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action. The State bears the burden of establishing that a statement made by a person

charged with a crime was made knowingly and voluntarily before it will be admitted at a trial or hearing. The court considered the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statements by the Defendant in this case. The Miranda rule only applies if the statements sought to be admitted resulted from a custodial interrogation.

- 2. The post-Miranda statements by the defendant to Officer Jewett were not the product of a custodial interrogation and were freely and voluntary given and not coerced. Therefore, the statements are admissible.
- 3. Officer Jewett was initially performing a community caretaking function which gave him the authority to approach the vehicle and determine if the occupants of the vehicle were in need of assistance. Further, Officer Jewett had reasonable and articulable suspicion that the occupants of the vehicle were trespassing on the property.
- 4. Officer Jewett's request for identification was lawful.
- 5. Officer Jewett had lawful authority to search the backpack incident to arrest. Furthermore, the Defendant freely and voluntarily consented to the search of the backpack.
- 6. Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law the court denies Defendant's Motion to Suppress.

[CP 21-24].

Jury trial commenced September 11, the Honorable Amber L. Finlay presiding. Neither exceptions nor objections were taken to the jury instructions. [RP 92]. Vandervort was found guilty, sentenced within his standard range, and timely notice of this appeal followed. [CP 2-20, 32].

-4-

02. Substantive Facts: CrR 3.6 Hearing

After learning that Vandervort had an outstanding "felony warrant for controlled substance [RP 9](,)" Officer Jewett arrested him about 50 yards from the vehicle behind a cedar tree with his backpack under his right arm. [RP 14]. Vandervort waived his Miranda¹ rights [RP 10] and consented to a search of his backpack, which produced a substance that field tested positive for methamphetamine. [RP 11-12]. Jewett denied making any threats or promises to obtain Vandervort's consent. [RP 14, 16].