#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

ROBERT L. VANDERVORT, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County State of Washington The Honorable Judge Amber L. Finlay

No. 13-1-00307-4

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

#

#### B. FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1 & 2. <u>Procedural History & Statement of Facts</u>. Pursuant to RAP 10.3(b), the State accepts Vandervort's recitation of the procedural history and facts, with the exception of additional facts as needed to develop the State's arguments, below.

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. Vandervort testified at trial that he did not know that he possessed methamphetamine. The arresting officer testified that Vandervort admitted to him that he possessed

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

methamphetamine. Vandervort argued at trial that the fact that he possessed methamphetamine was proved beyond a reasonable doubt, but he argued the affirmative defense of unwitting possession because he did not know that he possessed methamphetamine. The prosecutor argued that in order for the jury to believe that Vandervort did not know that he possessed methamphetamine, it must disbelieve the officer. Because this comment did not shift the burden of proof in regard to Vandervort's affirmative defense for which he bore the burden of proof, and because the prosecutor only pointed out the obviously irreconcilable conflict between Vandervort's testimony and the officer's testimony, the prosecutor did not commit misconduct by making this comment.

Officer Jewett testified that when he contacted Vandervort at the time of arrest, Vandervort told him there was methamphetamine in a black container in his backpack. RP 87. But at trial, Vandervort testified that he found the black container in the back seat of the car and that he put it into his backpack but didn't know what it contained. RP 82-83. At trial, Vandervort denied that he ever told Officer Jewett that the black container contained methamphetamine. RP 83.

In closing argument, Vandervort freely admitted that each of the elements of possession were proved beyond a reasonable doubt, but he then asserted that his possession was unwitting. RP 106-09. Unwitting possession is an affirmative defense that the defendant must prove by a

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

preponderance of evidence. *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 538, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004).

In the State's rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor argued that "[i]n regard to the unwitting possession defense, that defense is just simply not credible. It doesn't add up when you consider all the evidence." RP 110. The prosecutor then pointed out that:

The methamphetamine was in his backpack. That shows you he has knowledge. That goes into your calculus of determining whether or not on a more probable than not basis he had knowledge. He admitted it was there to Officer Jewett. That should factor into your calculus. He showed Officer Jewett exactly where the methamphetamine was in the backpack.

RP 110. But Vandervort argued that his possession was unwitting, so in response, the prosecutor argued as follows:

The defendant's story doesn't make sense either, and you should consider that we've heard three different stories. Story number one is the story he told Officer Jewett, which is that yes, I have methamphetamine; it's in my bag, let me show you where it is. Story number two is what he testified to on direct exam when he was questioned by his attorney when he testified, I didn't know the black container in my backpack contained methamphetamine.

Story number three came up and was where we left off, and the story he stuck with when I cross-examined him. I asked him, well, didn't you testify under oath at a prior hearing that maybe there was a little meth in the black canister in the backpack? Yeah, finally he admitted that's true. That's story number three. So, we have three different stories from the defendant.

On a more probable than not basis, which story is more likely true? When he's confronted by Officer Jewett, when he has

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

motivation to tell the truth, when perhaps he's looking for leniency from the officer that's placing him handcuffs, or months later when he has a skin in the game? Months later when he's concerned about repercussions and when he's had time to think about how he could potentially get out of this.

My last point in regards to on a more probable than not basis whether he had knowledge, for you to find that on a more probable than not basis he did not know the methamphetamine was in his backpack, you would have to be able to explain how it is that Officer Jewett was either mistaken or being dishonest. Because you can't have - there's one truth and three different stories, and you can't have your cake and eat it too, so it's either Officer Jewett is mistaken or being dishonest or the defendant is being dishonest.

It's one or the other, and which is more probable? Is there any motivation on the part of a police officer to come in here and lie? And what motivation does the defendant have? Well, he has a stake in the outcome, and he's shown that he can lie under oath. He was caught red-handed. He ran away from the police officer. Flight is evidence of guilt.

It's up to you now. I ask you to uphold the law, and I'm asking you to find the defendant guilty, and I'm asking you to reject the unwitting possession defense. Thank you.

#### RP 111-12.

The instant case is distinct from those cited by Vandervort, because here Vandervort bore the burden of proof in regard to his affirmative defense of unwitting possession. *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 538, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004). For example, the case of *In re Glassman*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012), is distinguishable from the instant case because the Court in *Glassman* found that the prosecutor erroneously shifted the burden of proof to the defendant when the

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

prosecutor argued to the jury that in order to reach a verdict it must determine whether the defendant lied when he testified. *Id.* at 713-14. But such reasoning is not applicable here, where Vandervort bore the burden of proof in regard to his affirmative defense. *Bradshaw* at 538.

The jury in the instant case was presented with two conflicting versions of facts to support whether Vandervort knew he possessed methamphetamine: Vandervort testified that he did not know the black case in his backpack contained methamphetamine; and, Officer Jewett testified that Vandervort told him there was methamphetamine in a black case in his backpack. RP 82-83, 87. "Where, as here, the parties present the jury with conflicting versions of the facts and the credibility of witnesses is a central issue, there is nothing misleading or unfair in stating the obvious: that if the jury accepts one version of the facts, it must necessarily reject the other." *State v. Wright*, 76 Wn. App. 811, 825, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995) (footnote omitted).

The prosecutor in the instant case argued to the jury that, because of the conflicting versions of the testimony, in order to find that Vandervort did not know there was methamphetamine in his backpack, the jury "would have to be able to explain how it is that Officer Jewett was either mistaken or being dishonest." RP 112. This statement, of course, is

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

not entirely correct, because the jury did not need to understand or explain Officer Jewett's testimony or belief – all that the jury was required to do was to determine whether Vandervort probably did not know that he possessed methamphetamine. *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 538, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004).

"[I]t is misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that in order to acquit a defendant, the jury must find that the State's witnesses are either lying or mistaken." State v. Fleming, 83 Wash.App. 209, 213, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996). This is because this argument suggests that the jury may base its verdict on something other than whether the State proves the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 213; State v. Wright, 76 Wn. App. 811, 826, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995). However, the State contends that this reasoning is inapplicable to the instant case, where Vandervort conceded that the elements of the offense were proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Still more, the prosecutor did not argue that the jury needed to resolve Officer Jewett's testimony "in order to acquit [the] defendant," as in *Fleming*. Instead, here, the prosecutor merely emphasized the irreconcilable conflict between the two witnesses' versions of what had occurred in regard to the knowledge element of Vandervort's affirmative defense, and he argued that, in order to conclude that Vandervort probably

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

didn't know he possessed methamphetamine in his backpack, there would have to be some explanation for how he could have told Officer Jewett about the methamphetamine in his backpack even though he didn't know there was methamphetamine in the backpack. RP 111-12.

During closing argument, the prosecuting attorney may draw inferences from the evidence as to why the jury would want to believe one witness over another. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). Vandervort testified that he did not know there was methamphetamine in his backpack and that he never told Officer Jewett that he did; Officer Jewett testified that Vandervort told him there was methamphetamine in his backpack. RP 82-83, 87. Here, the prosecutor did not argue that in order to acquit Vandervort it must believe that Officer Jewett was lying; instead, the prosecutor argued that "it's either Officer Jewett is mistaken or being dishonest or the defendant is being dishonest." RP 112. Resolving this conflicting testimony was relevant because if Vandervort knew he possessed methamphetamine, the affirmative defense of unwitting possession would fail. State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 538, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004). Where a jury must resolve conflicting testimony, the prosecutor may argue that if it accepts one version, it must

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

reject the other. *State v. Wright*, 76 Wn. App. 811, 825. 888 P.2d 1214 (1995).

Additionally, Vandervort did not object to the prosecutor's argument at trial. RP 109-12. Because Vandervort did not object, the issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal unless the alleged error is a manifest error that affects a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). In the instant case had there been an objection to the prosecutor's argument, a jury instruction could have cured the error, if it was error. The alleged error was not so flagrant or ill-intentioned as to be incurable by an objection and instruction from the court. The error alleged here does not amount to manifest constitutional error. *State v. Barrow*, 60 Wn. App. 869, 876, 809 P.2d 209 (1991). Because Vandervort did not object at trial, he should not be permitted to raise this issue on appeal. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

2. It was not error for the prosecutor to make reference to the irreconcilable conflict between Vandervort's testimony and the arresting officer's testimony in closing argument, but even if this was error, it was harmless error, and defense counsel's failure to object did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel because the conflict in the testimony was obvious and apparent to the jury and would have been considered by the jury irrespective of the prosecutor's reference to it during

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

closing argument and the prosecutor's reference to it is, therefore, unlikely to have had any effect on the jury's verdict.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-pronged test that requires the reviewing court to consider whether trial counsel's performance was deficient and, if so, whether counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial for which the result is unreliable. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984); *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32-34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). To demonstrate prejudice, Vandervort must show that but for the deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697; *State v. Foster*, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007).

The State contends foremost that the prosecutor's argument on the facts of this case was not improper, but that even if the prosecutor had not referenced the irreconcilable conflict between Vandervort's testimony and Officer Jewett's testimony, the conflict was nevertheless obvious to the jury. Thus, it is unlikely that the prosecutor's mere reference to this obvious conflict had any affect at all on the jury's verdict. It is more likely that, irrespective of the prosecutor's reference to the conflict, the jury's verdict was based only upon its assessments of evidence and that it

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

would have made these assessments regardless of any argument made by the prosecutor. Because there is not a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of the trial would have been different had defense counsel objected, Vandervort cannot show prejudice, and his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should, therefore, fail. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697; *State v. Foster*, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007)

3. Because there is no finding by the trial court that entry into bars, taverns, lounges, or other places whose primary business is the sale of liquor contributed to his crime, the community custody condition that prohibits Vandervort from entering such places should be stricken from his judgment and sentence.

At sentencing, the trial court found that Vandervort has a chemical dependency that contributed to the offense. CP 4. As a condition of community custody, the trial court prohibited Vandervort from the possession or use of drugs or alcohol. CP 15. Additionally, the trial court ordered as a condition of community custody that Vandervort "not go into bars, taverns, lounges or other places whose primary business is the sale of liquor[.]" CP 16.

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

A review of the Judgment and Sentence does not reveal any finding by the trial court that Vandervort suffers from alcohol dependency or that going into bars, taverns, lounges, or other places whose primary business is the sale of liquor contributed to his crime in this case. RP 3-20.

The legislature has sole province to establish legal punishments; thus, community custody conditions must be authorized by statute. *State v. Kolesnik*, 146 Wn. App. 790, 806, 192 P.3d 937 (2008), *review denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1050 (2009); *State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 76 P.3d 258 (2003). The sentencing court had discretionary authority to impose crime related prohibitions. RCW 9.94A.703(3)(f). But, because the trial court did not make a finding that going into bars, taverns, lounges, or other places whose primary business is the sale of liquor contributed to Vandervort's crime of conviction, the court lacked statutory authority to impose that condition. *State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 76 P.3d 258 (2003).

Because the condition is not crime related, and because there is otherwise no specific statutory authority to impose the condition, the condition should be stricken from Vandervort's judgment and sentence. *State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 206-07, 76 P.3d 258 (2003).

State's Response Brief Case No. 45436-0-II

#### D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State asks the court to deny Vandervort's appeal and to confirm his conviction, but the State asks the matter be returned to the trial court with an order to strike from his judgment and sentence the community custody condition that he not enter bars or taverns.